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MEMORANDUM 

 

YOHN, J.            April 7, 2015 

 

On December 15, 2014, following a multi-week jury trial, which began on October 27, 

2014, defendants Ylli Gjeli, Fatmir Mustafaraj, Gezim Asllani, and Rezart Rahmi Telushi were 

convicted of numerous offenses stemming from a racketeering conspiracy, collection of an 

unlawful debt, making extortionate extensions of credit, collection of extensions of credit by 

extortionate means, and illegal gambling.  The evidence established, as the government contends, 

that Gjeli was the “boss” of the organization, Mustafaraj was its “muscle,” and Asllani and 

Telushi were two of its “collectors.”  These four defendants now bring post-trial motions for a 

judgment of acquittal, or in the alternative, for a new trial.
1
  Because the evidence was more than 

sufficient to support each conviction of each defendant on each count, and because the interests 

of justice have been satisfied, I will deny the motions and uphold the jury’s verdict. 

I. BACKGROUND 

The evidence at trial showed that from approximately 2002 until their arrest in August 

2013, Gjeli and Mustafaraj—along with George Markakis, who pled guilty prior to trial—led a 

                                                 
1
 Five other co-defendants entered guilty pleas prior to trial. 
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multimillion-dollar criminal enterprise in the greater Philadelphia area.  This organization had 

two primary sources of income: loansharking and illegal gambling.  Asllani and Telushi—and 

Erion Murataj, who also pled guilty—took part in the loansharking end by helping to make loans 

and collect regular payments from borrowers.  These loans had interest rates very high above the 

legal limits, and borrowers were threatened with violence to ensure that they made their 

payments on time.  Defendants Eneo Jahaj, Brian Jackson, and Ardit Pone—who all pled guilty 

prior to trial as well—worked as bookies on the gambling end of the operation, with Markakis 

supervising them.  The two halves of the Gjeli organization would often work in concert: when 

customers could not cover their gambling losses, bookies would refer them to the loansharking 

arm to take out usurious loans.  Threats of violence ensured the repayment of these debts. 

Evidence showed that the Gjeli organization operated largely out of the Lion Bar in 

Northeast Philadelphia, which served as a front for the enterprise.  See, e.g., Tr. Nov. 13, 2014 at 

90:22-92:19  For example, the organization kept numerous records of its illegal gambling, 

bookmaking, and loansharking activities there—many of which were seized by law enforcement 

and presented at trial.  Id. at 93:23-94:5.  Likewise, members of the organization met with 

current and prospective borrowers at the bar—one of whom was actually an undercover 

employee (“UCE”) of the FBI known as “Nick,” who met with Gjeli and Mustafaraj there on 

August 5, 2011.  During that meeting, details of the loan were worked out and Gjeli informed 

“Nick” that his limbs would be broken if he did not pay back what he owed.  Tr. Nov. 20, 2014 

at 193:14-194:6. 

The organization’s threats were not always so explicit.  In particular, the evidence 

showed that defendants worked to create the false impression that they were part of an even 

larger and more powerful organization by repeatedly claiming that they worked with “people 
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from New York” who were willing and able to use violence to collect on loans.  Tr. Nov. 13, 

2014 at 52:15-53:2; 64:4-64:9.  References to the “people from New York” came up several 

times at trial, as it had become a shorthand for the organization’s members in talking with people 

who owed them money.  See, e.g., Tr. Nov. 4, 2014 at 108:6-109:9.  Many of these “customers” 

would ultimately testify at trial.  They include “Nick,” Wayne Pocius, John Lekkas, Periklis 

Zisis, Anthony Rodi, and Aldo Haxhistasa.  All told, the evidence showed that the Gjeli 

enterprise collected more than $1 million in principal payments on loans and nearly $3 million in 

gambling profits.  Tr. Dec. 4, 2014 at 55:18-55:23; 122:5-123:6. 

On August 21, 2013, a grand jury returned an indictment charging various sets of the 

defendants with racketeering conspiracy in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d) (Count 1); 

racketeering collection of an unlawful debt in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) (Counts 2 to 12); 

making extortionate extensions of credit in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 892 and 2 (Counts 13 to 

16); collecting extensions of credit by extortionate means in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 894(a)(1) 

and 2 (Counts 17 to 24); operating an illegal gambling business in violation of 18 U.S.C. 

§§ 1955(a) and 2 (Count 25); and possession of a firearm in furtherance of a crime of violence in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 924(c)(1)(A) and 2 (Count 26).  A jury trial commenced on October 

27, 2014, and the jury returned a mixed verdict on December 15, 2014.  Specifically, the jury 

found Gjeli guilty of ten counts (1, 4, 10, 11, 14, 15, 16, 23, 24, and 25), Mustafaraj guilty of 

twelve counts (1, 3, 7, 9, 11, 12, 14, 15, 16, 22, 24, and 25), Asllani guilty of seven counts (1, 3, 

9, 11, 15, 22, and 24), and Telushi guilty of four counts (1, 8, 11, and 24).   
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II. STANDARDS OF REVIEW 

A. Motion for Judgment of Acquittal 

 A defendant may file a motion for judgment of acquittal allowing a court to set aside a 

jury verdict.  Fed. R. Crim. P. 29(c).  The purpose of Rule 29 is to allow the defendant to test the 

sufficiency of the evidence offered to support a conviction.  See United States v. Cohen, 301 F.3d 

152, 159 (3d Cir. 2002).  However, “[a] defendant challenging the sufficiency of the evidence 

bears a heavy burden.”  United States v. Casper, 956 F.2d 416, 421 (3d Cir. 1992).  “A finding of 

insufficiency should be confined to cases where the prosecution’s failure is clear.”  United States 

v. Brodie, 403 F.3d 123, 133 (3d Cir. 2005) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). 

 In reviewing the record to determine whether there was sufficient evidence to support a 

conviction, “the court must view the evidence and the inferences logically deducible therefrom in 

the light most favorable to the government, to determine if there is sufficient evidence to support 

the factfinder’s verdict.”  United States v. McNeill, 887 F.2d 448, 450 (3d Cir. 1989).  Moreover, 

“the trial court’s ruling on the sufficiency of the evidence is governed by strict principles of 

deference to a jury’s findings.”  United States v. Ashfield, 735 F.2d 101, 106 (3d Cir. 1984).  “A 

verdict will be overruled only if no reasonable juror could accept the evidence as sufficient to 

support the conclusion of the defendant’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.”  United States v. 

Coleman, 811 F.2d 804, 807 (3d Cir. 1987) (citations omitted).  

B. Motion for a New Trial  

Rule 33 allows the court to “vacate any judgment and grant a new trial if the interest of 

justice so requires.”  Fed. R. Crim. P. 33(a).  “Unlike an insufficiency of the evidence claim, 

when a district court evaluates a Rule 33 motion it does not view the evidence favorably to the 

Government, but instead exercises its own judgment in assessing the Government’s case.”  
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United States v. Silveus, 542 F.3d 993, 1004 (3d Cir. 2002).  However, “[s]uch motions are not 

favored and should be granted sparingly and only in exceptional cases.”  Id. at 1005 (internal 

quotation marks and citations omitted).  It is not enough that the court believes a verdict to be 

against the weight of the evidence; the court may order a new trial only if it believes that “there 

is a serious danger that a miscarriage of justice has occurred—that is, that an innocent person has 

been convicted.”  Id. (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).   

III. DISCUSSION 

 Gjeli and Mustafaraj argue that there was insufficient evidence to prove that they were 

guilty of extortion (Counts 14 to 24) or illegal gambling (Count 25).
2
  Asllani and Telushi argue 

that there was insufficient evidence to prove they were guilty on any count because, they allege, 

they did not know the loans were usurious and they themselves never threatened the customers to 

compel them to make payments.  All four defendants therefore urge me to enter a judgment of 

acquittal under Rule 29 or, in the alternative, to grant a new trial under Rule 33. 

 A. Gjeli and Mustafaraj 

 The jury convicted Gjeli and Mustafaraj on three counts of making, or aiding and 

abetting in, an extortionate extension of credit of $30,000 to FBI UCE “Nick” on September 20, 

2011 (Count 14); of $50,000 to “Nick” on February 4, 2013 (Count 15); and of $14,000 to 

Haxhistasa on April 15, 2013 (Count 16).  The jury further convicted Gjeli and Mustafaraj on 

two counts each of collecting an extension of credit by extortionate means, or aiding and abetting 

in the same.  For Gjeli, those counts were collecting on the loan to Haxhistasa from April 15, 

2013 to July 25, 2013 (Count 23); and collecting on a loan to Rodi from June 7, 2013 to August 

9, 2013 (Count 24).  For Mustafaraj, those two counts were collecting on a loan to Zisis from 

January 30, 2013 to July 17, 2013 (Count 22); and collecting on the above-mentioned loan to 

                                                 
2
 Both Gjeli and Mustafaraj were acquitted on Counts 13 and 26.  Gjeli was also acquitted on Count 18. 
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Rodi (Count 24).  Gjeli and Mustafaraj were also convicted of conducting an illegal gambling 

business, or aiding and abetting in the same (Count 25).  Gjeli and Mustafaraj claim that “the 

government failed to present sufficient evidence to prove that [either of them] made threats, 

either express or implied, to the customers.”  Gjeli Mot. 1; Mustafaraj Mot. 1.  Gjeli and 

Mustafaraj further argue that they had “no involvement” in the gambling operation, as it was an 

“independent conspirac[y].”  Gjeli Mot. 2; Mustafaraj Mot. 2. 

1. Making an Extortionate Extension of Credit 

For the jury to find defendants guilty of making an extortionate extension of credit, the 

government was required to prove that defendant (1) “knowingly made an extension of credit” to 

a borrower and (2) that “[i]t was the understanding of [defendant], as the creditor, and . . . the 

debtor at the time the extension of credit [or loan] was made, that delay in making repayment or 

that failure to make repayment could result in the use of violence.”  2 Fed. Jury Prac. & Instr. 

§ 37:03 (6th ed. 2012); United States v. Benedetto, 558 F.2d 171, 178 (3d Cir. 1977).
3
  Gjeli and 

Mustafaraj do not challenge the first element of this offense—they argue only that the evidence 

was insufficient to prove that they ever threatened the borrowers.    

 As to the first count, Count 14, audio recordings captured Gjeli directly telling “Nick” 

that, with regard to repaying a loan of $30,000, “[L]et’s say you don’t pay . . . if they find you, 

they’re going to break your legs, they’re going to break your arms.”  Tr. Nov. 20, 2014 at 

193:14-194:6.  Based on this particularly salient evidence, a reasonable jury could certainly find 

that Gjeli and “Nick” both understood at the time the loan was made that failure to make 

repayment could result in violence.  Moreover, a reasonable jury could have found that 

Mustafaraj aided and abetted in this activity, as he brought “Nick” down to the basement of the 

                                                 
3
 Moreover, a defendant who “aids, abets, counsels, commands, induces or procures [the] commission” of such a 

crime “is punishable as a principal” under 18 U.S.C. § 2(a). 
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Lion Bar, patted him down, and remained physically present as Gjeli made explicit the threat of 

violence for lack of repayment.  Id. at 167:7-167:14; 195:6-195:11.  As a result, the evidence was 

sufficient to convict Gjeli and Mustafaraj on Count 14.   

 As to the second count, Count 15, a reasonable jury could have interpreted as a threat 

Gjeli’s statement to “Nick” regarding a loan of $50,000 that, “[w]hen it comes to money, these 

people are a nightmare.”  Tr. Nov. 24, 2014 at 70:3-72:21; Gov’t Ex. 46a.  That is because, 

particularly when it follows Gjeli’s prior threat to “Nick” on September 20, 2011, the jury could 

have inferred that Gjeli was referring here, as elsewhere, to the “people from New York”—those 

who represented the threat of violence.  Again, the jury could have found that Mustafaraj aided 

and abetted in this activity by offering to co-sign the loan and negotiating the interest rate with 

“Nick” and Gjeli.  Id. at 65:5-65:18; 66:22-67:5; 72:18-72:21.  Thus, the evidence was sufficient 

to convict Gjeli and Mustafaraj on Count 15 as well. 

 As to the third count, Count 16, the evidence showed that before approving the loan of 

$16,000 to cover Haxhistasa’s outstanding gambling debts, Gjeli referred to him as a “bitch” and 

a “faggot” and threatened violence for failure to repay the debt, telling him, “[I]f I find out that 

you gambled without paying me back, you will be in deep trouble . . . .”  Tr. Nov. 12, 2014 at 

169:21-170:5; 174:11-174:19.  From this evidence, a reasonable jury could have found that both 

Gjeli and Haxhistasa understood that delay in making repayment or failure to make repayment 

could result in the use of violence, as Haxhistasa stated.  Likewise, a reasonable jury could have 

found that Mustafaraj aided and abetted in this activity by patting down Haxhistasa, taking him 

to the basement of the Lion Bar, and recording his personal information.  Id. at 180:16-181:2; 

251:18-252:6.  The evidence was thus sufficient to convict Gjeli and Mustafaraj on Count 16. 
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2. Collecting an Extension of Credit by Extortionate Means 

18 U.S.C. § 894(a)(1) provides that “[w]hoever knowingly participates in any way, or 

conspires to do so, in the use of any extortionate means . . . to collect or attempt to collect any 

extension of credit . . . shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 20 years, or 

both.”  Extortionate means is defined at 18 U.S.C. § 891(7) as “any means which involves the 

use, or an express or implicit threat of use, of violence or other criminal means to cause harm to 

the person, reputation, or property of any person.”  See United States v. DiSalvo, 34 F.3d 1204, 

1211 (3d Cir. 1994).  Again, Gjeli and Mustafaraj contend only that they did not threaten the use 

of violence, so this analysis will focus exclusively on that element of the offense. 

As to the first count, Count 22, which charged Mustafaraj but not Gjeli, the evidence 

showed that in December 2012, Zisis had difficulty making his weekly payment and asked his 

collector for an extension.  In response, Mustafaraj showed up unannounced at Zisis’s place of 

business, screamed at him, reached into the pocket of Zisis and took out cash, and told him, “[I]n 

two days, make sure you pay the rest.”  Tr. Nov. 4, 2014 at 73:7-74:12.  A reasonable jury could 

have interpreted this behavior as a threat of violence—as did Zisis, who turned to the FBI for 

help—and therefore a reasonable jury could have found that Mustafaraj used extortionate means 

to collect on an extension of credit. 

As to the second count, Count 23, which charged Gjeli but not Mustafaraj, the same 

evidence that was sufficient to prove Count 16, above, is equally applicable.  In April 2013, Gjeli 

raised his voice in front of Haxhistasa and threatened that he would face violence if he did not 

repay his loans.  Tr. Nov. 12, 2014 at 174:11-174:19.  From that evidence, a reasonable jury 

could have found that Gjeli used extortionate means to collect on the extension of credit to 

Haxhistasa from April 15, 2013 to July 25, 2013. 
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On the third count, Count 24, Gjeli and Mustafaraj were found guilty of using 

extortionate means to collect from Rodi.  The jury heard evidence that Gjeli grabbed Rodi’s arm, 

swung a hatchet at him, and told him, “these people from New York, they will take your arm like 

this, and they’ll chop your fucking arm off.”  Tr. Nov. 18, 2014 at 158:1-158:13.  Evidence also 

showed that Mustafaraj assisted in this behavior by frisking Rodi right before the meeting.  Id. at 

156:9-156:13.  Moreover, the jury heard that on July 10, 2013, during a meeting to discuss 

consolidating Rodi’s loans, Gjeli called Rodi “a piece of shit” and told him, “I’ll break your 

fucking face.”  Tr. Nov. 19, 2014 at 35:19-35:22.  This evidence was therefore sufficient to 

prove that Gjeli and Mustafaraj used extortionate means to collect on an extension of credit from 

Rodi, or aided and abetted in the same. 

3. Illegal Gambling  

 18 U.S.C. § 1955(a) provides that “[w]hoever conducts, finances, manages, supervises, 

directs, or owns all or part of an illegal gambling business shall be fined under this title or 

imprisoned not more than five years, or both.”  The jury convicted Gjeli and Mustafaraj on one 

count under this statute, Count 25.  They now claim that the evidence shows they “had no 

involvement” in the “independent conspiracies to conduct illegal gambling.”  Gjeli Mot. 2; 

Mustafaraj Mot. 2.   

 Not so.  There was more than enough evidence for a reasonable jury to find that Gjeli and 

Mustafaraj violated § 1955(a).  Indeed, the evidence was overwhelming.  Gjeli served as a 

conductor of the gambling business: he encouraged and gave advice to “Nick” on April 5, 2013, 

explaining which type of gamble was the “best bet.”  Gov’t  Ex. 55a.  Gjeli served as a financier 

of the business: Markakis testified that Gjeli funded the gambling enterprise from approximately 

2000 to 2014.  Tr. Nov. 25, 2014 at 277:24-280:12; 282:7-282:19; Dec. 1, 2014 at 13:22-15:18.  
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And Gjeli acted as a supervisor of the operation: as Pone testified, Gjeli gave him instructions on 

where and how he could take bets, directed him to take over for other workers, and resolved 

disputes.  Tr. Nov. 17, 2014 at 137:12-139:15; 152:1-153:4.  Likewise, Mustafaraj performed 

various roles for the gambling business: for example, he explained to “Nick” how to use the 

gambling website, set up his username and password, set a betting limit on his account, and place 

bets using a mobile phone.  Tr. Nov. 24, 2014 at 90:13-90:20; 91:6-91:16; 93:18-93:22.  

Mustafaraj even provided technical support when “Nick” was unable to log in to the website.  Id. 

at 98:5-99:22.  According to Pone, Mustafaraj also helped resolve disputes within the 

organization and called meetings at the Lion Bar.  Tr. Nov. 17, 2014 at 126:8-126:10; 151:9-

151:12; 173:21-174:22.  In sum, a reasonable jury could easily have found Gjeli and Mustafaraj 

guilty on Count 25.
4
 

 B. Asllani and Telushi 

   The evidence presented at trial showed that Asllani and Telushi were active and informed 

members of the Gjeli criminal organization, working primarily as debt collectors.  The jury heard 

testimony that Asllani became a part of the enterprise as early as November 2005, and that he 

stayed involved until his arrest in August 2013.  Government’s exhibits 521a and 521b, the 

authenticity of which were not disputed, showed that Asllani collected weekly payments from a 

set of customers who had taken out usurious loans from the Gjeli organization, recorded those 

acts on collection sheets, and turned in the sheets and the money to his bosses at the Lion Bar.  

See Gov’t Ex. 521a; 521b.  From September 2012 to August 2013, Telushi likewise met with 

                                                 
4
 Gjeli and Mustafaraj additionally claim that “there were independent conspiracies to conduct illegal gambling” in 

which they “had no involvement.”  Gjeli Mot. 2; Mustafaraj Mot. 2.  This issue was raised but never briefed, so for 

one I consider it to have been waived.  But for another, a reasonable jury could have found that there was only one 

conspiracy in which Gjeli and Mustafaraj played central roles, because the same testimony described above 

provided the jury with “ample evidence of a large general scheme, and of aid given by some conspirators to others in 

aid of that scheme.”  See United States v. Kenny, 462 F.2d 1205, 1216 (3d Cir. 1972).   
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customers to take their weekly interest payments, recorded those payments on collection sheets, 

and turned in the sheets and money at the Lion Bar.  Id.  Both Asllani and Telushi regularly used 

other names—“Sam” and “Luigi,” respectively—in their various dealings with the Gjeli 

organization’s customers.   

For example, “Nick” testified that on February 4, 2013, he met with Asllani (whom he 

knew as “Sam”) in the basement of the Lion Bar to take out a loan of $50,000.  In that meeting, 

Asllani assumed the role that Gjeli had played when “Nick” took out a prior loan in August 

2011: Asllani took a photograph of “Nick’s” license, filled out the loan paperwork, and told 

“Nick” that the interest rate would be 3 percent per week on the loan.  Tr. Nov. 24, 2014 at 60:6-

61:21.  Indeed, Asllani even informed “Nick” that he would need a co-signer for the loan—as 

Asllani put it, “somebody that they can trust and know so if something happens to you . . . they 

need the insurance.”  Id. at 62:23-63:6.  Similarly, James D’Angelo testified that he met with 

Asllani several times regarding a $10,000 loan, and at these meetings Asllani completed 

paperwork, took a copy of D’Angelo’s driver’s license, explained that the interest rate would be 

3 percent per week, and transferred the money itself.  Tr. Dec. 2, 2014 at 53:4-57:10.  Asllani 

then met with D’Angelo each week for the following year to collect the agreed-upon payments.  

Id. at 57:11-57:20.  Moreover, Zisis testified that on two or three occasions, Asllani yelled at him 

while he was picking up Zisis’s weekly payments.  Tr. Nov. 5, 2014 at 10:21-11:11. 

Likewise, by August 2013, Rodi was making weekly payments to Asllani as well as 

Telushi, whom he knew as “Luigi.”  Tr. Nov. 18, 2014 at 125:20-126:18.  Government’s exhibit 

199a, the authenticity of which was not disputed, showed that a recorded telephone conversation 

between Rodi and Telushi on July 20, 2013, included Telushi’s telling Rodi, “I made it clear to 

you when I spoke to you earlier, you gotta come up with the money.  You understand me?”  
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Gov’t Ex. 199a.  During another recorded call between Rodi and Telushi that same day, after 

Rodi asked for an extension on his weekly payment, Telushi told Rodi, “Find a way, and find me 

what you got to find.  And see me later, okay?”  Gov’t Ex. 200a.  Later in that same 

conversation, Telushi told Rodi, “No, no, no, no, no.  Stop playing that kind of game.  No, no, 

no, no.  It’s gotta be today, you know that. . . . Find it and come up to me, that’s all you gotta do.  

See you.”  Id.  Shortly after that call ended, Rodi received another call—this time from 

Mustafaraj, who warned Rodi that he needed to “take care of Luigi.”  Tr. Nov. 19, 2014 at 48:18-

49:13. 

One week later, on July 27, 2013, when Rodi again asked Telushi for an extension on his 

interest payment, Telushi responded in a similar manner.  Government’s exhibit 209a, the 

authenticity of which was not disputed, showed that Telushi told Rodi:  

Stop the bullshit . . . no more bullshit.  

. . . . 

I don’t care where you gonna get the money, get the money.  

. . . . 

I don’t want to hear no stories about casinos and all that, I want to hear you come 

up to me and pay and continue next week. 

. . . . 

I want to see coming up with the payment, is that understood? 

. . . . 

[D]on’t call and tell me bullshit anymore.  Come up with my money, you’re 

supposed to pay. 

. . . . 

Give me a call later and tell me about the money.  Do you understand me?   

 

Gov’t Ex. 209a; Tr. Nov. 19, 2014 at 52:17-52:21.  Rodi’s testimony provided yet another 

noteworthy detail: in August 2013, when Rodi made his final payment to Telushi before his 

arrest, the envelope with the money had “juice” written on it.  Tr. Nov. 19, 2014 at 84:6-84:16.   

Having heard this and other testimony, the jury convicted Asllani on three counts of 

racketeering collection of unlawful debt with respect to Nahum Gola (Count 3), Zisis (Count 9), 
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and Rodi (Count 11); Telushi was convicted on two counts of the same with respect to Lekkas 

(Count 8) and Rodi (Count 11).  The jury further found Asllani guilty of one count of making or 

aiding and abetting in an extortionate extension of credit to “Nick” (Count 15), as well as two 

counts of collecting an extension of credit by extortionate means from Zisis (Count 22) and Rodi 

(Count 24).  The jury likewise found Telushi guilty on one count of collecting an extension of 

credit by extortionate means with respect to Rodi (Count 24).  Finally, the jury found both 

Asllani and Telushi guilty of one count of racketeering conspiracy (Count 1) for their overall 

involvement in the Gjeli organization. 

 Asllani and Telushi challenge their convictions on each of these counts—but only on 

particular grounds.  They argue that the evidence was insufficient to convict them of collecting 

an unlawful debt because they lacked knowledge that the interest rates were illegal.  Asllani Mot. 

4-6; Telushi Mot. 6-7.  Likewise, they claim there was not enough evidence to show that they 

used extortionate means either in extending or collecting on any debts.  Asllani Mot. 6-7; Telushi 

Mot. 7-9.  Finally, they assert that with the extortion and illegal debt counts knocked out, their 

convictions for racketeering conspiracy cannot stand.  Asllani Mot. 8; Telushi Mot. 9-10.   

1. Racketeering Collection of Unlawful Debt 

18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) provides, “It shall be unlawful for any person employed by or 

associated with any enterprise engaged in, or the activities of which affect, interstate or foreign 

commerce, to conduct or participate, directly or indirectly, in the conduct of such enterprise’s 

affairs through . . . collection of unlawful debt.”  The government must therefore prove several 

elements to secure a conviction under this statute, but Asllani and Telushi challenge only one: 

whether they knowingly participated in the collection of unlawful debt.
5
 

                                                 
5
 The jury charge listed five elements that the government must prove to secure a conviction under § 1962(c): 
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Asllani and Telushi concede that the government did not need to prove they had “specific 

knowledge of the interest rate of each usurious loan [they are] charged with collecting.” Asllani 

Mot. 6; Telushi Mot. 5 (quoting United States v. Biasucci, 786 F.2d 504, 512 (2d Cir. 1986)).  

The Third Circuit agrees, having cited Biasucci approvingly for the proposition that “defendant’s 

knowledge of the specific interest rates charged on usurious loans is not needed for a collection 

of unlawful debts violation under RICO.”  United States v. Eufrasio, 935 F.2d 553, 577 (3d Cir. 

1991) (citing Biasucci, 786 F.2d at 512-13).  At most, therefore, the government was required to 

prove that defendants had knowledge of the “generally unlawful nature of the particular loan[s] 

in question and also that it was the practice of the lenders to make such loans.”  Biasucci, 786 

F.2d at 512.  And the evidence at trial was sufficient to show that both defendants—at the least—

had such knowledge regarding the loans for which they were convicted.
6
   

The jury heard testimony from Brian Davis, an expert in illicit business records, that 

every customer listed on Asllani’s collection sheets was paying usurious interest on their loans, 

and that fourteen out of seventeen customers listed on Telushi’s collection sheets were being 

charged interest at an illegal rate.  See Gov’t Ex. 629c.  The Gjeli organization’s collectors dealt 

                                                                                                                                                             
First, the existence of an enterprise.  Second, that the enterprise was engaged in or its activities 

affected interstate or foreign commerce.  Third, that [defendants] were employed by or associated 

with that enterprise.  Fourth, that [defendants] knowingly conducted that enterprise’s affairs or that 

they knowingly participated directly or indirectly in the conduct of that enterprises affairs.  And 

fifth, that [defendants] knowingly conducted or participated directly or indirectly in the conduct of 

that enterprise’s affairs through collection of an unlawful debt as alleged in . . . the indictment . . . . 

 

Tr. Dec. 12, 2014 at 45:14-46:2.  The court further instructed the jury on what is required—and what is not—to find 

that a defendant acted knowingly: 

 

[T]he Government must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was conscious and 

aware of the nature of his actions, and of the surrounding facts and circumstances as specified in 

the definition of the offense charged, and did not act because of ignorance, mistake or 

accident. . . .  The Government is not required to prove that the defendant knew that his acts were 

against the law. 

 

Tr. Dec. 10, 2014 at 189:25-190:12.  Defendants did not dispute either of these instructions. 

 
6
 Asllani was acquitted of Count 14. 
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in cash, met with borrowers on street corners and in parking lots, and often did not even know 

the real names of their so-called “customers.”  See, e.g., Tr. Nov. 5, 2014 at 169:15-169:17; see 

also Tr. Nov. 13, 2014 at 61:4-62:10.  A reasonable jury could find that these pieces of evidence 

provided knowledge of the “generally unlawful nature” of the loans collected by Asllani and 

Telushi.
7
 

Just as importantly, a reasonable jury could have found that Asllani and Telushi had 

sufficient knowledge about each unlawful debt for which they were convicted.  As to Count 3, 

the evidence showed that Asllani knew exactly how much Gola owed each week on his loan, 

because Asllani recognized when Gola underpaid on a weekly interest payment on August 2, 

2011.  Tr. Nov. 20, 2014 at 145:6-145:22.  As to Count 9, the evidence showed that Asllani was 

familiar with the details of Zisis’s loan, as he knew how much Zisis owed each week and knew 

how many payments Zisis had already made on his loan.  Tr. Nov. 4, 2014 at 84:22-85:23; 

119:13-121:9.  As to Count 11, government’s exhibit 206a, the authenticity of which was not 

disputed, showed that in a recorded conversation between Rodi and Asllani, Asllani knew how 

much money Rodi owed per week and how many weeks of payments Rodi was scheduled to 

make.  Gov’t Ex. 206a.  Likewise, Telushi was explicitly told by Gjeli that Rodi had borrowed 

$14,000 and would make “40 payments of $500.”  Tr. Nov. 18, 2014 at 180:21-181:4.  And as to 

Count 8, Telushi began collecting weekly payments from Lekkas close in time to when Gjeli told 

him the details of the usurious loan to Rodi.  Id.; Tr. Nov. 5, 2014 at 214:1-214:5.  This is 

                                                 
7
 To support the idea that he could have collected on loans without knowing they were usurious, Telushi cites 

Commonwealth v. Rambo, 412 A.2d 535 (Pa. 1980).  In addition to the fact that this case involved state, not federal, 

law, in that case, the defendant received a package of hashish by mail from his brother, who was traveling abroad, 

and the Pennsylvania Supreme Court held there was insufficient evidence to prove he knew what was in the box (in 

part because he was arrested before even moving the package, let alone opening it).  Id. at 538.  A case that more 

closely parallels the facts here (still under state law), however, is Commonwealth v. Brown, 48 A.3d 426 (Pa. Super. 

Ct. 2012).  Brown also received a package of drugs, but it was addressed to a false name and he hid the box under a 

blanket in his closet.  Id. at 431.  Distinguishing Rambo, the Superior Court held that Brown’s behavior was “a 

strong indicator of guilty knowledge” and therefore upheld the drug conviction.  Id. 
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circumstantial evidence, but “the government may defeat a sufficiency-of-the-evidence challenge 

on circumstantial evidence alone.”  United States v. Iglesias, 535 F.3d 150, 156 (3d Cir. 2008).   

Finally, even if the government had not proven that Asllani and Telushi had sufficient 

knowledge of the usurious loans, these convictions could still be maintained on the basis of co-

conspirator liability.  Asllani and Telushi were convicted under 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d) of 

participating in a RICO conspiracy through a pattern of racketeering and the collection of 

unlawful debt (Count 1).  As the Third Circuit has made clear, “[A] participant in a conspiracy is 

liable for the reasonably foreseeable acts of his coconspirators in furtherance of the conspiracy.”  

United States v. Cross, 308 F.3d 308, 311 n.4 (3d Cir. 2002) (citing Pinkerton v. United States, 

328 U.S. 640 (1946)).  This theory of liability, the Pinkerton doctrine, “permits the government 

to prove the guilt of one defendant through the acts of another committed within the scope of and 

in furtherance of a conspiracy of which the defendant was a member, provided the acts are 

reasonably foreseeable as a necessary or natural consequence of the conspiracy.”  United States 

v. Lopez, 271 F.3d 472, 480 (3d Cir. 2001).  The evidence at trial was overwhelming that fellow 

members of the Gjeli organization—that is, Asllani and Telushi’s co-conspirators—took part in 

each of the collections of unlawful debt at issue.  Moreover, the evidence showed that each of 

these acts was within the scope and in furtherance of the scheme of the Gjeli organization.  A 

reasonable jury could therefore have found that these collections of unlawful debt were 

reasonably foreseeable as the consequence of a criminal loansharking enterprise, particularly 

given Asllani and Telushi’s significant involvement in the operation.  In sum, the evidence 

presented at trial was sufficient on multiple alternate grounds to find that Asllani and Telushi 

knowingly engaged in racketeering collection of unlawful debt. 
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2. Making an Extortionate Extension of Credit 

Asllani was convicted on one count, Count 15, of making an extortionate extension of 

credit or aiding and abetting the same.  That count related to the loan of $50,000 to “Nick” on 

February 4, 2013.  The evidence showed that Asllani actively participated in this loan process: he 

took a photograph of “Nick’s” driver’s license, explained that the weekly interest rate would be 

“3 points” (a figure that Gjeli subsequently lowered),
8
 and told “Nick” that he needed a 

cosigner—“somebody that they can trust and know so if something happens . . . they need the 

insurance.”  Tr. Nov. 24, 2014 at 62:23-63:6.  In particular, a reasonable jury could have 

interpreted the statement about needing “insurance” in case “something happens” as an implicit 

threat of violence, and the jury could have viewed the remaining evidence as proof of aiding and 

abetting.  The evidence was therefore more than sufficient to convict Asllani on Count 15. 

3. Collecting an Extension of Credit by Extortionate Means 

 Asllani was convicted of two counts of collecting an extension of credit by extortionate 

means, stemming from the debt owed by Zisis (Count 22) and the debt owed by Rodi (Count 24).  

Telushi was found guilty on Count 24 as well.
9
  Again, the relevant statute proscribes 

“knowingly participat[ing] in any way, or conspir[ing] to do so, in the use of any extortionate 

means . . . to collect or attempt to collect any extension of credit.”  18 U.S.C. § 894(a)(1). 

 As to Count 22, the evidence at trial showed that in November 2012, Zisis asked Asllani 

for an extension on his weekly payment, after which Zisis received a call from Mustafaraj 

warning him to “make sure you have the money in two days.”  Tr. Nov. 4, 2014 at 68:2-68:7.  

The following month, Zisis asked Asllani for another extension.  Mustafaraj subsequently 

showed up at Zisis’s place of business, screamed at him, and reached into his pocket to take out 

                                                 
8
 “Three points,” was explained numerous times during the trial to mean 3% per week. 

 
9
 Telushi was acquitted of Count 21.  
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cash, warning Zisis that he had two days to pay the balance.  Id. at 72:12-74:12.  A reasonable 

jury could infer from this pattern that Asllani knowingly called upon Mustafaraj—the 

organization’s “muscle”—to threaten Zisis into making his payments on time.  The evidence was 

therefore sufficient to convict Asllani on Count 22. 

 Both Asllani and Telushi were convicted on Count 24, related to the collection of debt 

from Rodi.  The evidence at trial showed that on July 20, 2013, Rodi asked Telushi for a one-day 

extension on a weekly payment.  In a matter of minutes after that conversation, Rodi received a 

call from Mustafaraj, who told Rodi, “I just got a phone call from this dude from New York, he 

said [you] got to take care of [Telushi].”  Tr. Nov. 19, 2014 at 49:8-49:13.  The following week, 

Rodi asked Telushi for another extension, and again, Rodi subsequently received two calls from 

Mustafaraj, the second of which included his telling Rodi, “[D]o what you got to do and come 

see me before things get, you know, nasty.  Because I cannot hold them.  I cannot hold them 

anymore.”  Tr. Nov. 19, 2014 at 54:14-55:3.  A reasonable jury could interpret these calls as 

threats of violence—with “them” referring to the “people from New York”—and the jury could 

also have found that Telushi’s strategy was to call in Mustafaraj to threaten Rodi into making his 

payments on time.  Such behavior could certainly qualify as “knowingly participat[ing] in any 

way, or conspir[ing] to do so, in the use of any extortionate means . . . to collect or attempt to 

collect any extension of credit.”  § 894(a)(1).  The evidence was therefore sufficient to convict 

Telushi on Count 24. 

 Likewise, recorded conversations between Rodi and Asllani provided sufficient evidence 

of Asllani’s guilt.  When Rodi asked on July 16, 2013, for an extension on a payment to that 

coming Friday, Asllani replied, “That’s too late . . . . What are you talking about, Friday?  You 

know it’s too late.”  Gov’t Ex. 191a; Tr. Nov. 19, 2014 at 40:5-40:8.  When Rodi told Asllani on 
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July 29, 2013, that he would be unable to make his next payment, Rodi explicitly told Asllani, 

“[Mustafaraj] said things are going to get nasty for me if I don’t wake up.”  Gov’t Ex. 215a.  

Asllani replied, “Alright, Anthony, what can I say?  You know you’re one week behind . . . .”  

Id.  Likewise, Rodi stated that when he asked Gjeli if he could consolidate his loans, Gjeli 

“flipped out and threw me out of the place.”  Id.  The evidence was therefore sufficient to prove 

that Asllani knew his organization was threatening Rodi to ensure he would make his payments, 

and thus it was sufficient to convict Asllani on Count 24. 

4. Racketeering Conspiracy 

 Asllani and Telushi argue that because there was insufficient evidence to convict them on 

the collection of unlawful debt or extortion counts, there necessarily was not enough evidence to 

convict them of racketeering conspiracy (Count 1).  As explained above, however, the evidence 

at trial was sufficient to convict Asllani and Telushi of those underlying offenses.  A reasonable 

jury, therefore, could have found that Asllani and Telushi violated 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d) as well.   

 C. Defendants’ Request for a New Trial 

 “[E]ven if a district court believes that the jury verdict is contrary to the weight of the 

evidence, it can order a new trial ‘only if it believes that there is a serious danger that a 

miscarriage of justice has occurred—that is, that an innocent person has been convicted.’” 

Silveus, 542 F.3d at 1004-05 (quoting United States v. Johnson, 302 F.3d 139, 150 (3d Cir. 

2002)).  “Such motions are not favored and should be ‘granted sparingly and only in exceptional 

cases.’”  Id. (quoting Gov’t of Virgin Islands v. Derricks, 810 F.2d 50, 55 (3d Cir. 1987)).  Here, 

the jury’s verdict is not contrary to, but rather fully in line with, the great weight of the evidence: 

as discussed above, the evidence has established that each defendant was guilty on each count for 

which they were convicted.  Moreover, defendants have pointed to no factors that would require 
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a new trial or make this case an exceptional one, and “[t]he burden lies with the defendant to 

prove that a new trial should be granted.”  United States v. Amirnazmi, 648 F. Supp. 2d 718, 719 

(E.D. Pa. 2009), aff’d, 645 F.3d 564 (3d Cir. 2011).  Therefore, defendants have not carried this 

burden, and as a result, they are not entitled to a new trial under Rule 33. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

 The evidence at trial was sufficient for a reasonable jury to convict each defendant on 

each count for which they were found guilty, and defendants have likewise failed to show that 

“there is a serious danger that a miscarriage of justice has occurred.”  Silveus, 542 F.3d at 1004.  

I will therefore deny the motions for a judgment of acquittal or, in the alternative, for a new 

trial.
10

  An appropriate order follows. 

  

                                                 
10

 Asllani argues in passing that a new trial is also warranted because the government engaged in “vouching” during 

its rebuttal closing argument by “speculating about and expressing their own personal belief and interpretation of the 

meaning of written notations on a not previously shown exhibit that had been introduced en mass[e] with other 

exhibits.”  Asllani Mot. 9.  As the Third Circuit explained in United States v. Saada, “‘[V]ouching constitutes an 

assurance by the prosecuting attorney of the credibility of a Government witness through personal knowledge or by 

other information outside of the testimony before the jury.’”  212 F.3d 210, 224-25 (3d Cir. 2000) (quoting United 

States v. Walker, 155 F.3d 180, 184 (3d Cir. 1998) (citations omitted)).  Asllani concedes that the rebuttal argument 

was based on an exhibit that was admitted as evidence at trial.  Moreover, the government’s argument drew on 

testimony by Murataj and Agent Kimberly Cyganik.  Tr. Nov. 13, 2014 at 174:17-177:11; Dec. 3, 2014 at 52:11-

52:18.  So here, as in Saada, “The prosecutor did not engage in vouching because he grounded his comments on the 

evidence presented at trial.”  Id. at 225.  Asllani’s motion for a new trial therefore fails on this ground as well. 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA  :   

      : CRIMINAL ACTION 

 v.     : 

      : 

YLLI GJELI,     : No. 13-421-01, -02, -05, -06 

 a/k/a “Willie,”    : 

FATMIR MUSTAFARAJ,   : 

a/k/a “Tony,”    : 

GEZIM ASLLANI,    : 

 a/k/a “Sam,”    : 

REZART RAHMI TELUSHI,  : 

 a/k/a “Luigi”    : 

 

ORDER 

 

 AND NOW, this 7th day of April, 2015, upon consideration of the motions for a 

judgment of acquittal or, in the alternative, for a new trial filed by defendants Ylli Gjeli (Doc. 

No. 375), Fatmir Mustafaraj (Doc. No. 374), Gezim Asllani (Doc. No. 371), and Rezart Rahmi 

Telushi (Doc. No. 370), the government’s consolidated response thereto, and defendants’ replies, 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the motions are DENIED.       

        /s/  William H. Yohn Jr.   

        William H. Yohn Jr., Judge 

 

 

 


